#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC03-454

DERRICK TYRONE SMITH,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

\_\_\_\_

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Florida Bar No. 0754773 McClain & McDermot, P.A. Attorneys at Law 141 NE 30<sup>th</sup> Street Wilton Manors, FL 33334 (305) 984-8344

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Mr. Smith appeals the circuit court's denial of his Rule 3.850 motion following an evidentiary hearing.

#### INTRODUCTION

The State's case against Derrick Smith was seemingly airtight. Derrick Johnson, Mr. Smith's co-defendant testified that he was with Mr. Smith participating in a robbery of Mr. Songer, a cab driver, when he saw Mr. Smith shoot Mr. Songer. Melvin Jones testified that he witnessed the shooting while in route to his residence a half of a block away; he said he saw Derrick Smith shoot the cab driver as Derrick Johnson fled the scene. As corroboration, the State presented David McGruder who had observed two men get into Mr. Songer's cab at the Hogley Wogley Bar-B-Q. His testimony was that even though he could not identify Derrick Smith in the courtroom, he had picked his photo from a photo-pack lineup shortly after the shooting (R2. 881).

While maintaining Mr. Smith's innocence, the defense at his first trial alleged that Johnson and Jones had been in a holding cell together shortly after the homicide and had worked on a story to incriminate Mr. Smith. During the defense's cross-examination of Johnson and Jones, both denied

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Mr. Smith was first tried in 1983, and after this Court reversed his conviction, retried in 1990. At issue in these proceedings is the constitutionality of the retrial.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The State also called Mellow Jones to corroborate her husband's story as to the time that he arrived home.

discussing the case (R1. 1536), or even conversing about the case (R1. 1693-94). Since both Jones and Johnson had denied a meeting and no other evidence was available to prove otherwise, counsel's questioning at the retrial was generic.

But again, Jones denied ever talking to Johnson (R2. 996-97).

In collateral proceedings, a wealth of new information surfaced that cast grave doubt upon the credibility of all three of these witnesses (Johnson, Jones and McGruder) and the veracity of their stories. At the evidentiary hearing in 2002, the State acknowledged that during the time period of Mr. Smith's case, the Pinellas State Attorney's Office relied upon Miller v. State, 360 So.2d 46 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1978), as defining its discovery duties. Under Miller, police reports were not discoverable except for those portions containing verbatim statements from witnesses listed by the State (PC-R.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>At the retrial, the defense did call Larry Martin as a witness. He testified that Derrick Johnson had told him while they were incarcerated together that Derrick Smith had not shot the cab driver (R2. 1257-59).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The prosecutor at the retrial did concede during his testimony that Rule 3.220 was amended effective July 1, 1989, prior to Mr. Smith's retrial (PC-R. 4810). <u>In re Amendment to Fla. R. Crim. Pro. 3.220</u>, 550 So.2d 1097 (Fla. 1989). Under the amended rule, all police reports were discoverable.

<u>Miller</u> was effectively overturned. Yet, the prosecutor at the retrial did not recall complying with the amended rule (PC-R. 3971).

4812-13). The police reports provided to the defense in Mr. Smith's case were subject to a "Millerizing" process after which a small number of redacted reports were found to be discoverable and disclosed (R1. 26-61).

However, not just police reports were withheld from the defense. During the post-conviction evidentiary hearing, the 1983 trial prosecutor, Tom Hogan, acknowledged using his state attorney subpoena power to obtain sworn testimony from numerous witnesses. Hogan prepared documents, each entitled "Synopsis," summarizing the sworn testimony of the witnesses who appeared before him. According to Hogan, testimony obtained pursuant to a state attorney subpoena was absolutely privileged and not discoverable (PC-R. 4855-56). Glenn

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The packet of police reports that were made part of the record of the original trial in 1983 (R1. 26-61) were introduced into evidence as D-Ex. #12. Introduced as D-Ex. #2 was a packet of those same police reports with passages marked with an "X" and the word "out" appearing. These had been obtained from the State Attorney's Office pursuant to Chapter 119, and reflected the redacting process employed by the State. Other police reports (not correlating to any that were disclosed to the defense at trial, but which were obtained from the State Attorney's Office pursuant to Chapter 119) were introduced as D-Ex. #3 and #19.

Prior to the 1990 trial, the State relied upon the discovery turned over in 1983 as satisfying its discovery obligation as to the retrial (D-Ex. #1, bsp 96). In the proceedings below, the State did not contest the fact that it "withheld" material pursuant to Miller (PC-R. 3971).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>A number of these "Synopsis" was introduced as D-Ex. #10.

Martin, the prosecutor from the 1990 trial, agreed that such testimony was not discoverable and was not disclosed to the defense (PC-R. 4833).

As a result of the State Attorney's policy, a wealth of documents was not revealed to the defense. Contained therein, was significant exculpatory information. First, the excised portion of a redacted report indicated that Melvin Jones "who lives on Fairfield Ave. So. in the 3000 block and who has warrants on him pending allegedly" was a suspect due to his residence's proximity to the shooting (D-Ex. #2, bsp 4736). The fact that Melvin Jones was a suspect gave him a motive to want Derrick Smith convicted; it constituted impeachment.

Second, Hogan's undisclosed summary of Derrick Johnson's statements to him, "D.J. says [] the first time he ever saw Melvin Jones 7/11/83 in a holding cell before prelim [sic] and Melvin Jones showed D.J. map and said [] he would help D.J. at trial" (PC-R. 4860, 4878; D-Ex. #8)(emphasis added). 7

Contrary to their trial testimony, Johnson and Jones met in a holding cell, Jones showed Johnson a map of the crime scene,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Mr. Smith's first trial commenced on November 1, 1983, months after the July 11<sup>th</sup> meeting between Johnson and Jones. At that time, Johnson denied "discuss[ing] this case at all with a Melvin Jones" (R1. 1536), and Jones denied "ever ha[ving] a conversation with Mr. Johnson about [Jones'] testimony" (R1. 1693).

and said he would help Johnson at trial. B Johnson's acknowledgment of a July 11th encounter with Jones in which he was shown Jones' map of the crime scene was not disclosed to Mr. Smith's trial attorneys, even though the defense at the first trial maintained that Johnson and Jones met and conspired against Mr. Smith. Clearly, this undisclosed information was favorable to the defense.

Third, the State failed to disclose that Melvin Jones' residence was visited twice by officers conducting neighborhood canvasses in the hours after the shooting. Jones had testified that only one officer had stop at the residence and talked to his wife. This visit was shortly after Jones

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Jones was arrested on unrelated charges on June 13, 1983, nearly three months after the shooting of Mr. Songer, the cab driver. He faced seventeen felony charges (R2. 998). Four days later, he met with the State to bargain for a deal in exchange for his testimony against Mr. Smith. At the meeting, Jones gave what he later claimed was a false account of what he had said he witnessed at Fairfield and 30<sup>th</sup> St. the night Mr. Songer was shot. Weeks after the June 17<sup>th</sup> meeting, Jones wrote an undated letter to the attention of Tom Hogan at the State Attorney's Office, giving a new account that was now generally consistent with Johnson's version of the shooting. Included with this letter was a map of the crime scene.

Following his testimony against Mr. Smith in 1983, Jones was sentenced in his pending cases to concurrent three-year suspended sentences followed by two years probation (D-Ex. 16, 12/1/83 Sentence).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>The undisclosed police report about the first neighborhood canvass indicated the police officer obtained "NEGATIVE" results when he talked to a "Melow Jones," a "B/M" who provided a date of birth and stated that the residence did

had supposedly gotten home within minutes of witnessing the shooting, but the inquiring officer was provided no information regarding this. According to his testimony at both trials, Jones told his wife about the shooting after the police officer left. This testimony provided a relatively benign explanation for the failure to advise the officer of what Jones had just observed, i.e. Jones had not yet told his wife of his observations. Neither Jones nor his wife ever indicated that a second officer stopped by hours later and received no information about the shooting, even though by then according to Jones and his wife, she had been advised of her husband's account of the shooting. This too was undisclosed information that was favorable to Mr. Smith's defense.

Fourth, the State did not disclose that prior to the second trial in 1990, Melvin Jones contacted a prosecutor regarding his testimony against Mr. Smith and sought to barter yet again. Jones advised the prosecutor that his 16-year-old

not have a phone (Def. Ex 2, bsp 4736). At trial, Mellow Jones, a female, testified that she had answered the door. She did not indicate that the conversation lasted long enough to provided the office with a date of birth and answer his inquiry about a phone.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>The undisclosed report detailed a second neighborhood canvass at 8:30 a.m., and indicated that negative results were obtained from "Mellow Jones, BF" (D-Ex. #3, bsp 4701).

daughter had accused him of "sexual abuse which occurred 3-6 yrs ago" and that "[h]e's afraid he'll be arrested" (D-Ex. #6). According to the prosecutor, "[h]e's willing to take a polygraph - wants to take polygraph" (Id.). Jones' undisclosed fear of prosecution for sexual abuse constituted impeachment.

Finally, the State failed to disclose documents entitled "Synopsis" prepared by Hogan recording sworn testimony obtained pursuant to State Attorney subpoenas (D-Ex. #10).

According to Hogan's Synopsis of David McGruder's sworn statement, "McGruder gave descriptions fitting both defendants in this case, however, he was unable to pick either of the defendants out of a photopak." This contradicted McGruder's trial testimony (R2. 862-63). Further, during the sworn statement obtained by Hogan, the description of the "shorter male" that supposedly matched Mr. Smith was recognized by Hogan to be off by "about a 30 pound weight difference" (D-Ex. #10, backside of bsp 0409). In yet another undisclosed police report (D-Ex. #3, bsp 4719), McGruder had given a description of the men he saw get into the cab as:

- 1. B/M, 22-23 yrs of age, 5'8" tall, 130 pounds, med. build, dark skin, having a thin mustache & a short afro type hairdo. This subject was last observed to be wearing a red cloth type jacket, bluejeans & white sneakers.
- 2. B/M approx. 23 yrs of age 6' tall, 140 pounds,

slim build, light skin, having a short cut type hairdo. Only clothing description reference to second individual was that he was wearing a pair of bluejeans & white sneakers.

(Emphasis added). In yet another undisclosed report dated March 24, 1983, the subject at large, Derrick Smith, was described as "5'8" tall, 205 pounds, husky build" (D-Ex. #3, bsp 4766) (emphasis added). These undisclosed reports read together show that at the time Mr. Smith weighed 75 pounds more than McGruder had described and that McGruder had been unable to identify Mr. Smith's photo as one the men getting into the cab; the reports constituted undisclosed impeachment.

Beyond the prosecution's failure to disclose a wealth of exculpatory material, the circuit court found that Mr. Smith's trial counsel rendered deficient performance when he failed to contact Vince Gibson, the person that Jones testified gave him the ride home and put him in the position to observe the shooting. According to Jones, Gibson dropped him off near his home moments before the cab drove up and the driver was shot before his eyes. However, Gibson testified at the evidentiary hearing that he had never given Jones a ride home. This unpresented evidence significantly undercut Jones' testimony.

Added together, the undisclosed and/or undiscovered evidence casts the case in a whole new light and undermines

confidence in the guilty verdict.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 24, 1983, Mr. Smith was indicted for the first degree murder of Jeffrey Songer on March 21, 1983. His codefendant, Derrick Johnson, was permitted to plead to second degree murder in exchange for his testimony. Mr. Smith's case proceeded to trial on November 1, 1983. After convicting Mr. Smith, the jury recommended death by a vote of 7-5. On November 29, 1983, Mr. Smith was sentenced to death. On appeal, a new trial was ordered. Smith v. State, 492 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 1986).

On May 8, 1990, Mr. Smith's retrial began. He was once again convicted. On May 16, 1990, penalty phase proceedings were held. The jury recommended death by a vote of 8-4 (R2. 160). On July 13, 1990, Mr. Smith was again sentenced to death. The judge found two aggravating circumstances, in the course of a robbery and prior conviction of a violent felony. One statutory mitigator, no significant history of criminal activity, was found along with several non-statutory mitigators. This Court affirmed on appeal. Smith v. State, 641 So. 2d 1319 (Fla. 1994).

Thereafter, Mr. Smith was provided with collateral counsel. Rule 3.850 proceedings were initiated. Public

records were sought and obtained. Ultimately, Mr. Smith submitted an Amended Motion to Vacate on September 18, 2000, detailing his claims for relief. After hearing oral arguments, the circuit court issued an order on January 3, 2002, denying many of Mr. Smith's claims. However, a limited evidentiary hearing was ordered as to several of the claims and/or portions of those claims.

The evidentiary hearing was conducted on July 23-26, 2002. During the hearing, Mr. Smith was precluded from presenting evidence in support of his <a href="mailto:Brady/Giglio">Brady/Giglio</a> claim that the circuit court believed was outside the scope of the limited hearing that had been granted (PC-R. 4928-31). 11

Nevertheless, evidence was presented without objection that the State in reliance on <a href="mailto:Miller v. State">Miller v. State</a>, 360 So.2d 46 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978), had not disclosed numerous police reports and had redacted those reports that were disclosed, and that the State did not disclose any documents entitled "Synopsis" that recorded sworn testimony obtained pursuant to a State Attorney subpoena. Evidence was also presented in support of Mr.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>As to the <u>Brady/Giglio</u> claim, full evidentiary development was limited to the claims that 1) Jones and Johnson were permitted to present false and/or misleading testimony regarding their contact in jail, and 2) the State failed to disclose information regarding the polygraph examination of Jones.

Smith's ineffective assistance of counsel claims and in support of Mr. Smith's newly discovered evidence claim pursuant to <u>Jones v. State</u>, 591 So.2d 911 (1991).

Following the evidentiary hearing, the parties submitted written closing arguments. On February 10, 2003, the circuit court entered its order denying Mr. Smith relief. As to the contact between Jones and Johnson, the circuit court found that the evidence of this contact, documented in D-Ex. #8, "was favorable to the accused" (PC-R. 4093). The court also found, "defense EX. 8 was not disclosed to the defense." (PC-R. 4093). But, the circuit court concluded that "although this undisclosed evidence would have undoubtedly had some value to the defense, it certainly would not have put the whole case in such a different light as to undermine confidence in the outcome." (PC-R. 4094). 13

As to Mr. Smith's claim that a wealth of other exculpatory evidence in the State's possession should have

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>The circuit court elaborated, "the court recognizes that it may have provided some significance in terms of impeachment. Admittedly, Derrick Johnson and Melvin Jones were crucial witnesses for the State. It may have also aided defense counsel in pursuing a different defense theory" (PC-R. 4093).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>As to an undisclosed polygraph examination of Melvin Jones, the circuit court concluded that Mr. Smith had "failed to satisfy either the materiality or prejudice prongs." (PC-R. 4099).

been disclosed, the circuit court found that Mr. Smith had "not proven that the 'Millerizing' of these police reports was legally impermissible." (PC-R. 4095). 14 The circuit court found that the State had no obligation to disclose the prosecutor's notation that Melvin Jones had called the State prior to the retrial and discussed his fear that charges may be filed against him because his stepdaughter had alleged that he had sexually abused her. 15

As to the State Attorney's "Synopsis" of sworn statements made by named witnesses in the case, the circuit court concluded that Mr. Smith "fails to meet his burden showing that defense counsel was entitled to disclosure of this internal investigatory report." (PC-R. 4096).16

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>The circuit court also stated that Mr. Smith "failed to adduce any evidence at the evidentiary hearing to support this claim." (PC-R. 4095). This overlooked the fact that the State's objections to supporting evidence were sustained on grounds that the evidence was outside the scope of the limited hearing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>As to this potential sexual abuse charge, the court ruled that Mr. Smith had not established that the State had an obligation to disclose a handwritten note "regarding its investigatory work on a particular case regardless of its relevancy or materiality" (PC-R. 4096), quoting <u>Carroll v. State</u>, 815 So.2d 601, 620 (Fla. 2002). The court also said that Mr. Smith's claim about Jones fear of prosecution was undercut by the absence of evidence that "Melvin Jones was ever charged with this crime" (PC-R. 4096).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>The court did nonetheless proceed to address one specific aspect of one Synopsis concerning McGruder's

As to the ineffective assistance claim, the circuit court first addressed Mr. Smith's contention that trial counsel's performance was deficient in failing to contact Vince Gibson, the person that Jones testified drove him home just prior to the shooting. Gibson testified at the evidentiary hearing that he did not give Jones a ride home that night. The court found:

it was deficient for counsel to have not inquired into whether Melvin Jones' story was credible, which would have included an investigation into whether Vince Gibson gave him a ride on the night of the homicide. At the very least, counsel's investigation should have involved an interview with Vince Gibson.

(PC-R. 4100). But yet again, the court said that its confidence was not undermined in the outcome.

As to the separate failure to adequately cross-examine

testimony before the prosecutor that he could not pick either of the suspects out of a photographic lineup. Since this was inconsistent with McGruder's trial testimony, the court said, "[i]t goes without saying that this information would have been favorable to the defense" (PC-R. 4097). But, the court concluded that "[g]iven the doubt McGruder expressed, and the inconsistencies in his testimony," confidence was not undermined in the outcome (PC-R. 4097). The court did not address that portion of the Synposis noting that McGruder was off in his description by "about a 30 pound weight difference" (D-Ex. #10, backside of bsp 409).

Despite recognizing McGruder's incredibility at trial, the court later in its order relied upon McGruder's trial testimony as a basis for finding no prejudice as to counsel's deficient performance in failing to investigate Jones' claim that "Vince Gibson" gave Jones the ride home that put him in the position to see the shooting.

Mellow Jones, the court found that Mr. Smith had failed to prove this claim (PC-R. 4101). The court did not address the police reports introduced into evidence regarding the neighborhood canvasses showing that two different officers on two occasions had contact with Mellow Jones. Nor did the court address D-Ex. #6 which reflected that prior to the second trial, Melvin and Mellow Jones were attempting to reconcile despite the claim of Mellow's daughter that Melvin had sexually abused her.

As to the ineffectiveness claim relating to the bullet lead compositional analysis conducted by the FBI, the circuit court concluded, "the court is not convinced that Sanders was deficient in failing to more thoroughly challenge the State's expert witnesses on the bullet lead comparison testing." (PC-R. 4103).

As to the penalty phase ineffectiveness claim, the court concluded that 1) the unpresented mitigation was cumulative to that which was presented; 2) to the extent that it was not, it did not outweigh the aggravators; and 3) counsel made a tactical decision to not present the evidence (PC-R. 4111).

The circuit court also rejected Mr. Smith's claim premised upon <u>Jones v. State</u> (PC-R. 4112-13).

Finally, as to Mr. Smith's claim that the <a href="Brady/Giglio">Brady/Giglio</a>,

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