IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DERRICK TYRONE SMITH,

Appellant,

CASE NO. SC03-454 Lower Tribunal No. CRC83-265

v. CFANO

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

_____/

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0327832 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

record reflects that Aqent The Havekost addressed this issue on direct-examination. According to Roy Cone's trial testimony, the unfired cartridges that comprised one of the two samples, the other being the bullet fragment extracted from the victim, were at least eleven years old. [R2 Pages: 890-892]. Agent Havekost explained that the chances of finding a box that was purchased or manufactured say, a year ago, with the same compositional make-up would be, in his opinion, "very unlikely." He opined that as time progresses, the chances of finding another box with the same compositional make-up becomes less and less remote, and that the chance of finding such "would be an insurmountable job." [R2 Pages: 710-711].

Moreover, Agent Charles Peters, the 27-year veteran F.B.I. laboratory technician, testified at the evidentiary hearing. As a rebuttal witness to Dr. Randich, he explained that Agent Havekost, in 1974, took samples from the melting pot at Winchester-Western and from three different billets, compared them, and found them to be homogenous as to their contents. Agent Peters indicated that he reviewed the trial testimony of Agent Asbery and Agent Havekost, and that based on his expertise, neither of those Agents misled or exaggerated the relevance of the lead comparison analysis. [R2 Pages: 522-523].

Sanders testified that he did, in fact, consult an expert in the area to assist him with the lead comparison testimony. State's Ex. 24, which is a Motion for Costs of Expert, confirms that he sought costs for "experts on ballistics and fingerprinting to aid in trial preparation," and State's Ex. 23 confirms that he hired a firearms expert. In particular, Sanders indicated that he called an expert clearinghouse, and was referred to а qualified expert in the area. He recalled "I just wanted to see if there was any way - if he [his expert] saw any way I could challenge what they did or the conclusions they reached, at the very least, with respect to that lead analysis testimony they gave." He further testified "I sent that [F.B.I. reports on lead comparison tests as furnished in discovery] to him [his expert] and asked him explained to him what the case was about and asked him whether he saw any problems with what the F.B.I. expert had done and what he had concluded. And he

called me back sometime later, as best I recall, and said something to the effect that he didn't see any problem with it." Finally, <u>Sanders indicated that he</u> <u>conducted research at Stetson College of Law to</u> <u>familiarize himself with neutron activation</u> analysis. [Pages: 672-676; 678-681].

In light of the foregoing, the court is not convinced that Sanders was deficient in failing to more thoroughly challenge the State's expert witnesses on the bullet lead comparison testing. Maxwell, 490 So. 2d at 932 (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)). As discussed above, the record reflects that he was not inattentive to the issue. That is, he consulted an expert of his own, and he conducted his own research on neutron activation analysis. As previously explained, "courts are required to make every effort to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight by evaluating the performance from counsel's perspective at the time and indulge а strong presumption that counsel has rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment." White, 729 So.2d at 912 (citing Wainwright, 507 So.2d at 1381. "That current counsel, through hindsight, would now do things differently than original counsel did is not the test for ineffectiveness." Stano, 520 So.2d at 281 n.5; Cherry, 659 So.2d at 1073 ("The standard is not how present counsel would have proceeded, in hindsight....").

The court was unable to find any testimony or evidence offered at the evidentiary hearing concerning Sanders' failure to hire a chemical residue expert. At the evidentiary hearing, Dr. Randich discussed, in detail, the bullet lead comparison testing and how Agent Havekost's opinion at trial was "flawed." <u>He did not, however, offer testimony on the testing that determined lead to be present on the victim's sweater and t-shirt, and on the defendant's jeans. Therefore, to the extent it is distinct, the chemical residue expert claim shall be deemed abandoned. <u>Anderson</u>, 822 So. 2d at 1266-67.</u>

(PC-R. V22/R4103-4104)

Smith now describes FBI expert Havekost's bullet lead analysis as "Junk Science." (Initial Brief of Appellant at 88). However, Smith's disparaging characterization does not factually alter that three FBI agents with expertise in metal element analysis have all testified concerning identification of the metal composition of the metal fragment on the body of the murdered cab driver and its comparison with the metal composition of the bullets in the box owned by Smith's uncle, Roy Cone. Of course, the State's theory at trial was that this gun was the one used by Smith to shoot the cab driver. Trial counsel Sanders hired a ballistics expert for the retrial to review the FBI's raw data and testing, but. developed nothing for impeachment. (PC-R. V32/R5460-5463; St. Ex. 23 & 24). Even now, the defense metallurgist expert, Dr. Randich, accepted the results of the neutron activation analysis and ICP analyses as done by the FBI. (PC-R. V30/R5209).

Because of new technology, Agent Havekost, in 1988, retested the exhibits which were previously tested by Agent Asbury in 1983. Havekost repeated the neutron activation analysis that Asbury previously had performed for amounts of copper, arsenic and antimony, and added the new instrumental technique ICP for detection of the amounts of antimony and the additional chemical elements of bismuth and silver. (R2.

V6/R1043-1044, 1066-1069). Three elements were compared by neutron activation and one of those three and an additional two by ICP. (R2. V6/R1069-1070). He had been doing neutron activation analysis with the FBI since 1973 and the ICP instrumental technique since 1985. (R2. V6/R1062-1063). He gave the history of the development of the ICP instrument and its use in universities and industry since the 1960's, and its subsequent forensic use at Scotland yard in the 1970's before the FBI began its daily use in 1985. He testified to its acceptance in the scientific community as а reliable instrument and to the proper use of the machine for his testing. (R2. V6/R1070-1071). Agent Havekost concluded that the fragment bullet samples he analyzed for comparison were indistinguishable chemically for the five elements, from which he formed his opinion that they had a common source. (R2. V6/R1071). He described his particular expertise in Winchester cartridges from seventeen years of working with the product which resulted from the manufacturing process at Winchester-Western Corporation, the cartridge plant to which he was personally assigned and had visited to observe the process. (R2. V6/R1074-1075). Typically, several metal compositions of bullets were represented within a typical box of fifty bullets. (R2. V6/R1081).

Dr. Randich's conclusion, that the fragment may also have been consistent with bullets sold in other boxes was not omitted by the FBI testimony. Dr. Randich, Agent Havekost, and Agent Peters all addressed the fact that bullets from different melt pours often ended up in the same box of 50 bullets, because bullet casings were not assembled with date-sensitive explosive components until needed. Conversely, bullets from the same melt pour could end up in different boxes as well as the same box. Agent Havekost explained that the odds of finding unshot boxes of bullets chemically matching bullets from other boxes diminished rapidly as the years go by and unlikely after ten years. (R2. V6/R1081-1083). Cone's box of bullets, that were compositionally indistinguishable for five elements of the metal fragment found on the victim, had been purchased over ten years earlier. (R2. V6/R891-894, 1231).

Finally, Dr. Randich admitted that his own information was not available for use by defense counsel in 1990, having only been developed by studies he began in 1998, and that he knew of no other source of such information in 1990. (PC-R. V30/R5237-5238). Although he would have started such a study in 1990, if he'd been asked, he had yet to publish an article for peer review, other than having had one on the Internet for two months, four years after commencing his study. (PC-R.

V30/R5238-5239). Accordingly, Smith did not establish the availability of a metallurgist in 1989-1990 to have contradicted the FBI chemical composition analysts.²³ The Circuit Court's findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence and Smith has failed to demonstrate any deficiency of counsel and resulting prejudice under Strickland.

Failure to Investigate Alleged Alibi Witnesses and Strike Jurors for Cause

Smith also asserts that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to adequately investigate Smith's "potential alibi witnesses, Khan Campbell and James Hawkins." (Brief of Appellant at 92). Prior to Smith's retrial, attorney Sanders moved to withdraw, asserting an alleged conflict in that "the client wants counsel to represent testimony that counsel believes to be perjurious." (R2. V1/R86). After a pretrial hearing on the motion (R2. V2/R351-364), the trial court

²³The State recognizes that Dr. Randich pointed out, however, that the data he used from the lead suppliers (i.e., SPARK data) was available in the 1980's, and that the 1987-1989 data had been included in his Internet paper. (PC-R. V30/R5230). However, the lack of precision of the SPARK data would have so minimized the weight of such evidence, as compared to the precision of the ICP procedure for confirming the neutron activation testing, as to not show with any reasonable probability that it would have affected the outcome, nor constituted ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to present it.

denied the motion, as not presenting a legally sufficient reason to withdraw. (R2. V2/R358). The "potential" defense witnesses were identified during trial as Campbell and Hawkins. (R2. V7/R1238). The State took the depositions of both Campbell and Hawkins on November 8, 1989. In their depositions, both Hawkins and Campbell admitted to having an extensive history of felony convictions for which they were currently incarcerated at Florida State Prison; both were transferred there from Union Correctional Institution for fighting with other inmates and other disciplinary reports. Campbell had known Smith since 1979 when they had met in a program for juvenile delinquents, and Hawkins had known Smith since 1980, after meeting him on the street as "Rerun." Campbell met Smith at the clinic at Florida State Prison in May of 1989, and Smith asked Campbell if he recalled seeing Smith at Norm's Bar on March 20, 1983, the same date as the murder, and if Campbell recalled the time he had seen Smith.

At the time of Smith's retrial, the State had obtained record evidence to impeach the deposition statements of Smith's alleged alibi witnesses, Campbell and Hawkins, of seeing Smith at Norm's Bar and outside there after 12:30 closing time on the day of the cab driver's murder. Both Campbell and Hawkins had testified on deposition that they could recall the date as the same day they had both taken

Campbell's pregnant girlfriend to Bayfront Hospital with labor pains, but that she had not had the baby until another later time. The State obtained the hospital records for Campbell's pregnant girlfriend, Dylan Misha Walters, and established that the date of her admission to Bayfront for false labor pains was March 28, 1983, a week *after* the cab driver's murder on March 21, 1983. (State's three-page proffer of testimony filed May 25, 1990, PC-R. V13/R2249-2251).

At the time of trial, the trial court resolved the matter by having defense counsel Sanders²⁴ and Smith seal their versions of confidential, privileged discussions they had about Campbell and Hawkins testifying as alibi witnesses and by allowing the State to file its proffer of the impeachment

²⁴Trial counsel's files, discovered to the State during the postconviction proceedings by Court order, reveal that Smith's additional claimed alibi witnesses, Shy Fat, Denise Young, Norm and Casper, did not support Smith's claimed alibi of their having seen Smith after midnight, but only earlier that night. Casper told the investigator he had spoken to Smith between 11:00 and 11:15 P.M., while playing the next-to-last set of music as the disc jockey. Denise Young said she was with Smith for about two to three hours at Norm's, after Smith arrived between 6:00 and 7:00 P.M. Norm thought he might have seen Smith the evening of the shooting, but was not sure. Shorty Fat, whom the investigator thought was possibly Shy Fat, denied seeing Smith that night, but said Smith had asked him, while the two were in jail together, to help him with his alibi. (PC-R. V13/R2239-2246). As reiterated in DeHaven v. State, 618 So. 2d 337, 339 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993), "a defendant's Constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel does not include the right to require his lawyer to perpetrate a fraud on the court."

evidence. (R2. V7/R1237-1253; PC-R. V13/R2255). The statement by trial counsel Sanders, filed May 25, 1990, unsealed on postconviction, reveals that Smith told Sanders that the two witnesses, Khan Campbell and James Hawkins, were lying, but that Smith recalled only that he told Sanders they *might* be lying. (PC-R. V13/R2255). Smith filed no separate sealed statement, but Smith wrote a letter to the Court, referred to in his initial brief. (PC-R. V13/R2284-2285). Trial counsel's strategic decision, ethically declining to present false testimony, does not constitute any deficiency of counsel under <u>Strickland</u>.

Smith also claims that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to challenge for cause some unnamed jurors who allegedly expressed bias in favor of imposing a sentence of death. (Brief of Appellant at 91-92). Smith's argument on this point consists of two sentences. Smith does not identify, by name, any particular juror; instead, he simply lists a series of page numbers from the direct appeal record. (Id. at 92).

Smith's conclusory, two-sentence assertion is woefully inadequate to fairly preserve this issue for appellate review. See, e.g., <u>Cooper v. State</u>, 856 So. 2d 969, 977, n. 7 (Fla. 2003); <u>Sweet v. State</u>, 810 So. 2d 854 (Fla. 2002) ("because on appeal Sweet simply recites these claims from his

postconviction motion in a sentence or two, without elaboration or explanation, we conclude that these instances of alleged ineffectiveness are not preserved for appellate review"); Dufour v. State, 2005 Fla. LEXIS 691 (Fla. 2005), citing Duest v. Dugger, 555 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990). Assuming, arguendo, that Smith's two-sentence claim is fairly appeal, which the preserved and presented on State specifically disputes, Smith has not demonstrated any deficiency and resulting prejudice under Strickland and its' In summarily denying postconviction relief progeny. on Smith's allegation that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to strike various jurors for cause, the trial court's written order of January, 2002, specifically addresses particular, identified jurors, and sets forth a thorough analysis of this claim. The Circuit Court evaluated each allegation in conjunction with the trial record and the applicable legal standards and found that Smith failed to establish any entitlement to relief, individually and cumulatively. Thus, even if this claim is considered, no relief is due because Smith has not identified any error in the treatment of these postconviction claims. See, Dufour v. State, 2005 Fla. LEXIS 691 (Fla. 2005) (Defendant "is not entitled to relief on his cumulative error claim because the alleged individual claims of error are all without merit, and,

therefore, the contention of cumulative error is similarly without merit.") <u>Griffin v. State</u>, 866 So. 2d 1, 22 (Fla. 2003) ("Where individual claims of error alleged are either procedurally barred or without merit, the claim of cumulative error must fail.")

ISSUE IV

THE "NEWLY-DISCOVERED" EVIDENCE CLAIM

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